


























BURT ORRIN KINNEY 1873 - 1966 
Burt Kinney graduated from the Gouverneur Wesleyan Seminary. 

He worked for a short time at a local furniture factory, pulling lathes at 
the Van Duzee saw mill. 

As a very young man he started working for the Dewey and Perrin 
Drug company then located in the "old Whitney drug store". In those 
days work began early in the morning often before 7 am with the 
mopping of the establishment, the icing of the refrigerators and the 
making of the-ice cream, and continued until 10 or 12 o'clock at night. 
Wages paid in those days would bring an incredulous grin to the faces 
of sales persons today. The most a starting clerk could hope for was $8 
a week. An experienced man got $I 0. Overtime was unknown. It was 
merely an accepted part of the business that clerks would be called out 
at night to open the store for drugs to fight emergency illnesses that 
had a habit of developing after midnight. 

After he had been working at the drug store for several years, B. 0. 
came home with the news that bis employer had offered to raise his 
salary from SI 0 a week to S 12 and to send him to Albany College of 
Pharmacy. Mentor and boss A.W. Dewey, a druggist encouraged him to 
attend. Dewey paid for his education. He graduated in 1901. 

In 1902 Burt Kinney took possession of the drug business owned 
by A.\V. Dewey who retired from the business due to poor health . It 
was slow going in the new store. His first day's sales totaled $157.90 
and the second day $36.04. 

Operating on a limited amount of borrowed capital, be worked hard 
to keep from going under. It was Burt Kinney's industry and acumen 
which built the business. Patrons of the store were sure of a welcome 
when they entered and a courteous and willing attention to their needs. 
It was never too much trouble for B. 0. to search for exactly the article 
the customer wanted, taking time to show a personal interest in the 
customer. 

Small children in town knew that if they "went to Mr. Kinney" 
they would receive the same consideration that adults did. And they 
might also find a horehound drop or a piece of hard candy slipped into 
their hands. Many children obtained spending money by collecting 
bottles and taking them to Kinney's to exchange for a few pennies. 

Burt Kinney was a talented baseball player, playing shortstop on 
the Gouverneur team. His interest in golf helped bring about the found­
ing of the Gouverneur Country Club. He loved to fish. He had a camp 
at Trout Lake where the family spent time in the summer. 
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He recognized the need for a hospital in the community and when 
the Van Duzee hospital building was given to the village, he worked 
many hours to set it up. He served on the hospital board of directors for 
many years. He served as a village trustee, director of the Gouverneur 
Savings and Loan and was a life member of the Gouverneur Lodge F & 
AM. 

He waited on customers up to six weeks before be died in 1966 at 
the age of 92. 

KATHLEEN DRAPER, (KITTIE) 1877-1962 
Kittie Draper was born in 1877, one of six children. She was 

educated in Gouverneur schools. Her father was considered a master in 
the trade of plumbing and his industry has become legendary among 
the older people i.n the village. 

Kittie married Burt Kinney when she was nineteen. First they lived 
in an apartment over the old Gouverneur Reading Room. They were 
among the first residents of Sterling Street and lived there for more 
than 50 years. 

They had 2 children, Harold and a daughter, Bessie Frances, who 
died in childhood. 

HAROLD KJNNEY 1897 -1979 
Harold became the "boy" in the firm in 1912, at the age of fifteen . 

He worked part-time until he graduated from Gouverneur High School 
in 1914. He then attended Cornell University and received a degree in 
chemistry. In 1918 he joined the Anny. 

Harold became associated with Kinney Drugs in 1919. Unsure of 
what he wanted to do, he worked in the store while trying to decide and 
finally stayed because be loved merchandising. He served as executive 
vice president and treasurer for 32 years. He was named president in 
1960 and became chairman of the board in 1966, retiring in 1977. 

He married Mary Kaley in 1924. They lived at 6 Sterling Street 
from 1928 to 1962 when they moved to a new home on Rock island St. 
They had a daughter, Susan. 

Aware of tentative plans for an addition to the EJ Noble hospital of 
an extended care facility they made a sizable donation. They partici­
pated in the plans for the nursing home which opened in 1971 and is 
named the Harold and Mary Kinney Nursing Home. They also contrib­
uted to the hospital. 

In 1972 St. Lawrence University recognized Mr. Kinney as a 
distinguished person. 
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Harold Kinney was a charter member of the Gouverneur Luncheon 
Club, a member of the board of directors of the Gouverneur EJ Noble 
Hospital and the Kinney Nursing Home, a member of the board of 
directors of the Bank of Gouverneur, and a member of Gouverneur 
Lodge F &AM. In 1969 he received the Julius Bartlett Memorial Award. 

He died in 1979. 

ORRIN KINNEY 1824-1904 
Orrin Kinney, father of Burt Kinney was a pioneer in St. Lawrence 

County and a resident of the area for 50 years. 
He was born in Fowler in 1824. He moved to Gouverneur when he 

was a young man. 
Orrin worked as a carpenter and earned the reputation as a man of 

the strictest integrity and honor. He built the Anthony and Aldrich 
homes. 

ELECTA BIGNALL 1837 - 1928 
Electa Bignall, mother of Burt Kinney died at the age of 91. She 

was one of 12 children. She was known as a strong force in the 
community. She was the second oldest member of the First Baptist 
Church. 

Orrin and Electa Bignall Kinney had three children, Burt, Austin 
and a daughter Mrs. George McKean, and Orrin bad a son Andrew by a 
former marriage. 

ROBINSON LOT 
RIVERSIDE CEMETERY, GOUVERNEUR, NY 

The Robinson lot was purchased by Martha Rebecca Newton 
Robinson in 1911 at the death of her husband Jasper Robinson for $60. 

The Robinson family has lived in the Gouverneur-Fowler area since 
the I 850's. The Robinson farm was on the California Road behind Sylvia 
Lake. 

The family farm purchased by Jasper and Martha on the California 
Road included a large portion of the Southern shore of the lake. The 
family cottage was built on Sylvia Lake in 1892. 

The Robinson family consisted of Jasper and Martha Rebecca. They 
had three children. 
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Elmer J ohn Robinson 1874 - 1960 
Elmer Robinson was born on family farm in Fowler in 1874. He 

lived bis enlire life in Gouverneur. He graduated from Potsdam Nor­
mal in 1899. He taught school briefly. He then went into the hardware 
store business, Robinson's Hardware Store, which is now pan of the 
Kinney building on Main Street. He owned that business until 1946. 
He married Katherine Elizabeth Hamilton of Gouverneur in 1914. 

Elmer's children are 
Sylvia Robinson Santacroce, 
Martha Robinson Goulding, 
and Zelma Robinson Wemyss 

Jessie May Robinson Taylor 1889- 1960 
Jessie was also born on the family farm on the California Rd. i.n 

1889. Jessie graduated from GHS in 1910 and St. Lawrence University 
in the class of 1915. 

She married Warren Taylor from Niagara Falls in 1919 at the family 
home on Rock Island Street. Jessie and her family lived in Gouverneur 
most of her life. Living a shon time in Niagara Falls in her early 
marriage. 

Jessie's chi ldren are 
Roben Taylor, 
Nonon Taylor, 
and Peggy Taylor Hopper 

Benton Robinson 1871 - 1901 
Born in 1871 in Fowler, Benton Robinson married Kate Barraford 

from Edwards. Benton died very young. He was killed in a mining ac­
cident at the age of 31, leaving a daughter, Grace Robinson Locker. 

The only direct Robinson descendants left in the Gouverneur area 
at this time are Norton Taylor, Jessie's son; Katie Pistolesi, Martha 
Robinson Goulding's daughter; and some grandchildren of Grace 
Robinson locker. 

The lot 
Front left to right 
Manha Robinson Goulding, Katherine & Elmer Robinson, Manha 

R. & Jasper Robinson, Sylvia Robinson Santacroce 
Back right to left 
Benton & Kate B. 
Grace Robinson Locker and Abe Locker 
Norton and Joan Taylor 
Jessie and \Varren Taylor 
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ROCKWELL BARNES 1788 - 1869 
Rockwell Barnes was born in 1788. 
Al age 6, with a jack knife, he modeled a perfect house in his 

fathers door yard. This was so skillfully done that ii altracted the 
attention of those passing by. Every mortise, joint and stick was in its 
proper place. A few years later he constructed an entire saw mill on a 
small creek nearby. The building was complete, the machinery perfec1, 
and soft materials could be sawed by ii. The irons were shaped in his 
fathers blacksmith shop. Working only in rainy weather, it was nearly 
completed before his parents were aware that so important a structure 
had arisen in the neighborhood. 

Al age 14, Rockwell Barnes was apprenticed to Deacon Aaron 
Carrington to learn the trade of carpenter and joiner. When Mr. 
Carrington died three years later be left bis tools valued at two hun­
dred dollars to Barnes. 

In 1806, Rockwell Barnes married Miss Nancy Barnes, o f Mon­
roe, Washington County, and 2 years la1er left 10 seek work in this 
area. He brought his family here in 1810. They had five children; Erwin, 
Phoebe, Erastus, Ruben and Belinda. Descendents include Lillian Taitt 
who married James Sheldon whose children included Marion who 
married Wil(jam Jennings and Gertrude who married Howard Smith. 

At Natural Dam be assisted in building the flouring and saw mills. 
In 1812, Barnes received the commission of Ens ign, and in 1816, 

he was commissioned as Captain by De Will Cl inion, by which tille be 
was ever after known. He was a veteran of 1812, but died before any 
approprialions were made for those soldiers. 

Rockwell Barnes and Isaac Austin built the tirsl frame house in 
Gouverneur, for Dr. John Spencer, on the corner of Main and Cl.inion 
streets, where Kinney's is now. 

In 1820, the first Congregational or Presbyterian society was 
organized. Rockwell Barnes was a trustee. 

A church building wits s1arted thal year, bul ii was not completed 
until 1824. Rockwell Barnes is believed to have been !he principal 
contractor and performed much of the labor. This was replaced in 1844. 
All Presbyterian churches have been on the same site. 

lo 1833, he built brick stores on Church and William Street. These 
were taken down in 1875 and Union Hall was buill. 

A man of indomitable spiril and will, for sixty years he atlended 
every town meeting and election. He held various offices and posi­
lions of trusl. He ever studied lhe prosperity and advancemenl of !Own 
and village. 

He died July 4, 1869 at 1he age of 81 . 
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FRANK SEA KER 1873 - J 931 
Frank Seaker was a farmer, supervisor of the Town of Macomb, 

and schoolmaster at Brasie Comers school until moving to Gouverneur 
to stan an automobile dealership in October 1912. 

A Republican, be was elected and served in the New York State 
Assembly from 1911 to 1921. He was succeeded in the Assembly by 
the late Rhoda Fox-Graves and she by her son, the late Paul D. Graves. 
This seat is now held by Dede Scozzafava. 

Frank Seaker formed a partnership with Elmer Curtis to be known 
as Scakcr & Curtis Marble City Garage. This was located where 
Cambray Court stands now. They carried Dodge, Hudson, Buick cars 
and Case tractors. In 1915, Frank Seaker ended his association with 
Curtis and formed one with P.A. Graves which became the Seaker Graves 
Motor Co. They built a new building where DJ \Valters is today. In 
1922 when Chevrolet was added, they kept the Buick line and dropped 
the others. \Vhen Seaker & Cunis was dissolved Curtis took on the 
Ford agency. 

He died in January 1931. 

NORA G RAVES SEAKER 1871 - 1951 
Norn Graves Seaker was born in 1871. She grew up in Macomb 

and married Frank Seaker in 1896. She died at her home, 80 Clinton 
Street in 1951. 

RAYMOND SEAKER 1897 - 1961 
Raymond Seaker was born May 18, 1897 in Macomb, son of Frank 

and Nora Graves Seaker. 
Raymond Seaker was a partner in Seaker Graves Motor Co. 

Raymond Seaker entered the automobile bus iness with his fa ther in 
1913. He became a partner in the business in 1931. In 1954, after Mr. 
Graves' death he became associated in pannership in the same firm 
with Mark Graves. In 1961 at the age of 63, he was stricken with a 
bean attack. He died at home. His son Hilliard then became the panncr 
of Mark Graves. 

Raymond Seaker married Aha Hill, December 12, 1917. They had 
two children, a son Hilliard and a daughter Norrioe Dickson (Republi­
can State committeewoman from $1. Lawrence County}. He had five 
grandchildren, Billie Jean and Frank Seaker, Jeff, Gregory and Lea 
Dickson. 

In 1936, he built a home at 68 Clinton St. They also had a summer 
res idence at Black Lake and a winier home in Florida until 1958. 
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Raymond Seaker belonged to the Gouverneur Masonic Lodge, 
Gouverneur Grange, Elks Club, Odd Fellows, Luncheon Club, Citi­
zens Club, Black Lake Fish and Game Club and Spruce Mountain Hunt­
ing Club and he was an active square dance "caller" specializing in the 
·'circle two step" 

PATIENCE SEAKER 1899 - 1986 
Patience Seaker was born in Macomb in 1899. She graduated from 

St. Lawrence University and taught history in Albany, Canajoharie, 
Amsterdam and Philadelphia, N.Y. 

Patience Seaker was active in Gouverneur Morris Chapter DAR, 
NYS Retired Teachers Assoc., American Red Cross, Eastern Star, St. 
Lawrence County Historical Assoc., Gouverneur Garden Cl ub, 
Gouverneur Shakespeare Club and Gouverneur Arts Club. She was an 
avid contract bridge player. 

She died in 1986. 

RHODA FOX GRAVES 1877 - 1950 
Rhoda Fox Graves was born in Fowler in 1877 to Leander and Rhoda 

Austin. Her mother died shortly after her birth, and her father could 
not care for her. He let Lafayette & Rhoda Fox adopt her when she was 
two weeks old. 

She attended schoo ls in Gouverneur and graduated from the 
Wesleyan Seminary in Gouverneur. In her early life she was a teacher 
in rural area schools. 

In 1905 she married Perle Graves, a farmer and part owner of Seaker­
Graves Motor Co. They bad two sons, Paul and Mark. Paul succeeded 
his mother in the state senate, and Mark became a partner in the Seaker­
Graves Motor Co. 

She worked diligently during the suffrage campaign in St. Lawrence 
County and she was very instrumental in making the Town of 
Gouverneur the first town in St. Lawrence County that allowed women 
to vote in the 1917 election. When women got the vote she was ready 
to enter the world of politics. 

\Vhen she announced that she would run for the New York State 
Assembly as a republican, her opponent, Frank Scott of Morristown 
said "Anyone can beat a woman ." She campaigned hard, promising 
farmers to represent them in Albany. She told women she would make 
their concerns known in Albany. She trounced Scott, getting twice as 
many votes. 
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That election proved politics had changed and that women voters 
bad spoken. She represented her district well and kept her word to the 
farmers, the women and all her constituents. Graves was also an advo­
cate of children's rights, thus representing constituents of all ages. 

She carefully listened to not only her constituents, as her home 
door was always open, but also to the debates in Albany. When it was 
time to vote, she represented her people back home. Visitors were told 
"don't ring the bell, just walk in." Graves took every concern seriously 
and answered every letter personally in longhand . 

She was elected to the State Assembly four times, 1925-1933. She 
was the fi rst woman elected to the State Senate and served from 1935-
1949. During her tenure in Albany she was a force to be reckoned with. 

Rhoda Fox Graves died January 25, 1950. Even after her death she 
was acknowledged as one of the most important women in New York 
State. In 1998 Gov. Pataki recognized her as one of the "Outstanding 
Women in New York State". A plaque is at the Gouverneur Museum. 

MORE CEMETERY FACTS ... 

• An estimate was given about 3 years ago for the removal of 
trees in Riverside that were deemed as unsafe. The cost would 
be $1000.00 for each tree if that company did the cleanup and 
$600.00 if the cemetery's two employees were to take on this 
task. 

• A permanent maintenance fund is for the purpose of maintain­
ing and preserving the cemetery for the future. Ten percent of 
each lot sale must be added to this fund as well as $35.00 from 
each burial. Only the interest may be used for day-to-day 
operations. 

•A Perpetual Care Fund was established years ago for the 
purpose of an individual grave, plot or space.This sum of money 
is also an endowment and can be invested with only the interest 
going towards care of a specific lot. 

• Lot owners are the true owners of the cemetery and it is to 
their best interest to attend all meetings held by the board. 
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\Vatertowo Daily Ti mes 
\Vatertown, N. Y. 

Saturday, October 18, 1958 

SODA FOUNTAIN IS DISCO NT INUED 

VanSlyke & Curtis l\1ilkshake Known in North 
'Sold for 15 Cents in 1923 

Gouverneur, Oc1, 18. Monday saw lhe end ofa Gouverneur institu­
tion ofihe las1 35 years when lhe final traces ofihe soda fountain at !he 
Northland Drug company, successor lo the Van Slyke and Curtis Drug 
firm, were eliminated from the store's floor. No longer will Gouverneur 
teenagers gather tbere lo talk over the Saturday afternoon football game. 

Back in 1923 "Pe1e" and "Bill" VanSlyke, decided lo add a service 
lo !heir drug slore. They put in a soda fountain for the convenience of 
!heir customers, little realizing that its reputation would spread through­
out the north. 

After some deliberation it was decided that this fountain should 
have one distinction. It would serve a chocolate milkshake, sundae, or 
soda better than any other in the village or for that matter, the north. 
The chocolate syrup would be a secret formula. It was, and for years ii 
was brewed on !he stove of Mrs. William Van Slvke. 

The cost of 1he milkshake in 1923 was 15 cents. It was a large 
milkshake, and it was a good one. It did not take long for the young 
persons of Gouverneur to discover that here was a drink that would 
quench their thirst and please their taste. They went to the drug store 
and they talked over their problems there. Quite often Pete or Bill would 
come up with some good advice. 

Through the years the reputation of the Van Slyke and Curlis 
milkshakes grew. The favorite story concerns a returning veteran from 
World \Var II. As be !ouched his feel to lbe ground at the Gouverneur 
railroad depol ii is said his first words were, "The firs! thing I want in 
this 1own is a milkshake at Van Slyke and Curtis's." 
A woman from Malone, employed in the state department, stopped at 
!he drug store for a milkshake every lime she was in Gouverneur. Dur­
ing the roaring twenties and into the thi.rties cars from Monroe county, 
Onondaga county, Albany county, and even out-of-state cars could be 
seen parked near the drug slore, their occupants inside quenching their 
thirst with the Van Slyke and Curtis chocolate milkshake. 

The firm always prepared an excellent milkshake for its custom­
ers. Through !he war years and after, 1he quality was maintained. As 
higher costs forced increases, Pete and Bill reluctanlly added five cents 
!hen anolber, and !hen anotber unti l 30 cents was reached. 

The force of modern compelilion doomed the fountain at the 
Northland Drug Store. Space was 100 valuable for many other items 
now carried by the modem druggist. And so the fountain had to go. It 
will iake many Gouverneurians a long time 10 erase lhe habit of going 
downtown 10 have a mi lkshake a1 Van Slyke and Curtis's. 
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FIRST GATE OF CEMETERY AFTER 
CROSSING BRIDGE 
GOUVERNEUR, NY 

BEFORE FENCE \VAS REl\10VED 
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